HOUSE COMMITTEE ON COMMERCE

April 24, 1997 Hearing Room 357

8:00 A.M. Tape 25

MEMBERS PRESENT:

Rep. Eldon Johnson, Chair

Rep. Cynthia Wooten, Vice-Chair

Rep. Ron Adams

Rep. Roger Beyer

Rep. Richard Devlin

Rep. Jim Hill

Rep. Bob Montgomery

Rep. Jackie Taylor

Rep. Tom Whelan

MEMBER EXCUSED:

STAFF PRESENT:

Keith Putman, Administrator

Timaree Whitty, Administrative Support

MEASURE/ISSUES HEARD:

HB 2038 Work Session

HB 2347 Work Session

HB 2132 Work Session

HB 2465 Work Session

HB 2695 Work Session

HB 3697 Public Hearing

These minutes are in compliance with Senate and House Rules. <u>Only text enclosed in quotation</u> <u>marks reports a speaker's exact words.</u> For complete contents, please refer to the tapes.

	7	
Tape/#	Speaker	Comments
TAPE 25, A]	
004	Chair Johnson	Opens meeting at 8:05 a.m. Opens public hearing on HB 3697.
HB 3697 PUBLIC HEARING		
008	Chair Johnson	Closes public hearing on HB 3697. Opens work session on HB 2038.
HB 2038 WORK SESSION		
030	Chair Johnson	Turns meeting over to Rep. Adams.
034	Rep. Taylor	Reviews provisions of the bill.
050	Rep. Whelan	Asks how they know they are independent contractors.
053	Rep. Taylor	Responds
061	Keith Putman	Committee Administrator, clarifies the response.
065	Rep. Whelan	Comments on "conclusive presumption."
069	Rep. Hill	MOTION: Moves HB 2038 to the floor with a DO PASS recommendation.
071		VOTE: 6-0 AYE: In a roll call vote, all members present vote Aye. EXCUSED: 1 - Johnson ABSENT: 2 - Devlin, Wooten
	Rep. Adams	The motion CARRIES. REP. TAYLOR will lead discussion on the floor.
080	Rep. Adams	Closes work session on HB 2038 and opens work session on HB 2347.
HB 2347 WORK SESSION		
085	Rep. Beyer	MOTION: Moves HB 2347 back to subcommittee.
		Hearing no objection, declares the motion CARRIED.

	Rep. Adams	
	Rep. Adams	Closes work session on HB 2347, opens work session on HB 2132.
HB 2132 WORK SESSION]	
091	Rep. Beyer	Reviews provisions of the bill.
095	Rep. Hill	MOTION: Moves HB 2132 to the floor with a DO PASS recommendation.
		VOTE: 7-0
		AYE: In a roll call vote, all members present vote Aye. EXCUSED: 1 - Johnson
		ABSENT: 1 - Devlin
	Rep. Adams	The motion CARRIES. REP. DEVLIN will lead discussion on the floor.
115	Rep.	Closes work session on HB 2132. Asks Rep. Wooten if she
	Adams	would like to vote on HB 2038.
117	Rep. Adams	MOTION: Requests unanimous consent that the rules be SUSPENDED to allow REP. WOOTEN to BE RECORDED as voting AYE on HB 2038.
	Rep. Adams	Hearing no objection, declares the motion CARRIED. Opens work session on HB 2465.
HB 2465 WORK SESSION		
120	Rep. Beyer	Reviews provisions of the bill.
129	Rep. Hill	MOTION: Moves HB 2465 to the floor with a DO PASS AS AMENDED recommendation.
		VOTE: 7-0
		AYE: In a roll call vote, all members present vote Aye.
		EXCUSED: 1 - Johnson
		ABSENT: 1 - Devlin
	Rep.	The motion CARRIES.
	Adams	REP. BEYER will lead discussion on the floor.

141	Rep. Adams	Closes work session on HB 2465. Opens work session on HB 2695.
HB 2695 WORK SESSION		
142	Rep. Beyer	Reviews provisions of the bill.
163	Rep. Adams	Asks why there is currently a law prohibiting this.
166	Rep. Beyer	Responds that he asked the same question, but didn't get an answer.
168	Rep. Whelan	Responds with his understanding from previous work history with the Real Estate Divison. Believes this involves finder fees.
175	Rep. Adams	Asks Rep. Beyer to carry the bill on the floor instead of Rep. Devlin due to this information.
184	Rep. Hill	MOTION: Moves HB 2695 to the floor with a DO PASS AS AMENDED recommendation.
187	Rep. Beyer	Asks Committee Administrator if there is language that restricts the measure to a certain dollar amount.
189	Putman	Responds that he doesn't see any such language in the bill.
		VOTE: 8-0 AYE: In a roll call vote, all members present vote Aye. EXCUSED: 1 - Johnson
	Rep. Adams	The motion CARRIES. REP. BEYER will lead discussion on the floor.
202	Rep. Adams	Closes work session on HB 2695.
208	Keith Putman	Comments on earlier passage of HB 2132 and fiscal impact received.
209	Rep. Adams	Requests copies of fiscal impact to all members.
223	Chair Adams	Reminds members that next full meeting is at 7 pm tonight and reviews schedules for subcommittees. Closes meeting at 8:19 a.m.

Submitted By, Reviewed By,

Timaree Whitty, Keith Putman,

Administrative Support Administrator

Transcribed by,

Carolyn Brooks

HOUSE COMMITTEE ON COMMERCE

April 24, 1997 Hearing Room F
7:00 P.M. Tapes 26 - 29
MEMBERS PRESENT: Rep. Cynthia Wooten, Vice-Chair
Rep. Richard Devlin
Rep. Jim Hill
Rep. Jackie Taylor
Rep. Tom Whelan
MEMBER EXCUSED: Rep. Eldon Johnson, Chair
Rep. Ron Adams
Rep. Roger Beyer
Rep. Bob Montgomery
STAFF PRESENT: Keith Putman, Administrator
Timaree Whitty, Administrative Support
MEASURE/ISSUES HEARD: HB 3649 Public Hearing
HB 3217 Public Hearing
HB 2882 Public Hearing
HB 3233 Public Hearing
HB 2880 Public Hearing
HB 3649 Public Hearing
HB 2885 Public Hearing
HB 3648 Public Hearing

These minutes are in compliance with Senate and House Rules. <u>Only text enclosed in quotation</u> <u>marks reports a speaker's exact words.</u> For complete contents, please refer to the tapes.

Tape/# Speaker Comments	
-------------------------	--

003	Vice-Chair Wooten	Opens meeting at 7:06 p.m. Opens a public hearing on HB 3649.
HB 3649 PUBLIC HEARING		
008	Sen. Kate Brown	State Senator, Senate District #7. Describes the Oregon Women's Health and Wellness Alliance. States that the bills sponsored by the alliance are categorized under either economics, health, or public safety.
025	Rep. Kitty Piercy	State Representative, House District #39. Briefly describes the bills to be presented, stating that the bills represent a "step forward" for women in the state. (EXHIBIT A)
050	Rep. Barbara Ross	State Representative, House District #35. Talks specifically to the bill dealing with breast cancer, HB's 3217, 2800, and 2882. States that her sisters have survived breast cancer due to the excellent health care they received. Mentions economic pressures moving the state away from quality medical care.
079	Rep. Anitra Rasmussen	State Representative, House District #11. States that she will save her comments to when the committee discusses specific bills. (EXHIBIT D2)
086	Rep. Chris Beck	State Representative, House District #12. Supports the bills. Expresses admiration for the alliance.
108	Kevin Earls	Associated Oregon Industries. Submits written testimony (EXHIBIT B). Speaks generally about the public policy tradeoff with the proposed mandates to health insurance. Notes the state's success in increasing the percentage of residents receiving coverage. States that in the last three years the rate of uninsured has dropped from 14% to 10.5%. Opposes adding new costs to health benefits.
158	Earls	Continues testimony, talking of Oregon's managed care. States that mandates disproportionately affect small employers.
183	Barney Speight	Health Plan Administrator's Office. Describes the membership and the purpose of the Health Resources Commission. States that the commission performs a publicly-funded medical technology assessment program.
231		Closes the public hearing on HB 3649. Opens a public hearing on HB 3217.
<u>HB 3217 -</u> <u>PUBLIC</u> HEARING		
235	Rep. Hill	Asks Mr. Earls if he has a cost estimate.
241	Earls	Answers that each mandate will be significant, but that he doesn't know specifics.
262		Introduces her legislative aide, Brenda Teig.

	Rep. Rasmussen	
270	Brenda Teig	Legislative Aide. Submits written testimony (EXHIBIT C). States that bone marrow transplants save lives. Explains the medical procedures for treating breast cancer. Describes legal and financial uncertainty faced by patients.
321	Jan Ryan	Resident of Eugene. Relates personal experience with breast cancer and chemotherapy.
373	Ryan	Continues relating personal experience.
TAPE 27, A]	
030	Ryan	Continues relating personal experience.
065	Speight	Introduces Dan Harris.
070	Dan Harris	Executive Director for the Oregon Health Resources Commission. Submits written materials (EXHIBIT D). Talks of a recently appointed panel established to guide the commission on its research on bone marrow transplants. Relates findings of the commission on the medical procedures.
120	Harris	Continues testimony. States that there is suggestive evidence that there are benefits for some patients.
170	Harris	Continues testimony. States that they will provide the committee with the results of their study as well as a set of recommendations.
189	Rep. Devlin	Asks how many cases there are a year where this treatment would be a viable option.
195	Harris	Answers approximately 10% of the women suffering from breast cancer. States that nationally there have been 181,600 cases in 1997.
223	Teig	States that 70 bone marrow transplants were performed in 1996 in Oregon.
227	Rep. Taylor	Asks if they would characterize this procedure as experimental.
230	Harris	Replies they he wouldn't characterize it as experimental but rather evolving.
243	Rep. Taylor	States that 2003 is a long way away.
259	Rep. Hill	Asks if a medical doctor would prescribe this treatment casually in cases where it isn't needed.
284	Harris	Notes that physicians often respond to their patients wishes. Expresses concern with clinical trials requiring volunteer patients. States that there are unanswered questions regarding the procedure.
330	Speight	Refers to a report from U.S. Congressman Ron Wyden stating that health insurance mandates endanger clinical research which could answer unanswered questions.
354	Gerry Thompson	Oregon Association of Health Underwriters and Pacific Health and Life Insurance Company. States that the industry has worked hard

		on market reform, making insurance more available. States that
		mandates increase insurers' costs and decrease consumers' ability to
		choose their own level of coverage.
TAPE 26,		
007	Rep. Hill	Asks if she has any data on the costs associated with bill.
016	Thompson	Responds that they are working on compiling the information.
021	Rep. Hill	Asks how much it would cost to cover this procedure. Asks if the procedure is available as an "add-on."
033	Thompson	Responds that it is not an add on, noting that it would be extremely expensive as an add on.
040	Rep. Hill	Asks if the witness knows when the compilation will be complete.
042	Thompson	States that she doesn't know.
044	Rep. Devlin	Asks if the witness will provide data to the committee.
047	Thompson	Answers yes.
051	Rep. Whelan	Asks if the procedure will become covered if studies find that it is "good science."
058	Thompson	Answers yes.
067	Vice-Chair Wooten	Asks if an insurer in the state currently covers the procedure.
071	Thompson	Defers to the representatives of the insurance companies.
075	John Powell	Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Oregon. Introduces Mona Simons. (EXHIBIT C2)
080	Mona Simons	Transplant Oncology Senior Medical Management Coordinator for Region's Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Oregon. Expresses ambivalence yet opposes the bill. States that out of 75 requests for the procedure she has had to turn down two women. States that their policies are consistent with the Health Resources Commission's recommendations. Notes inconclusive findings on bone marrow transplants. Notes that if coverage is mandated that it will be very difficult to recruit women to participate in research trials in order to find definite answers. Suggests waiting for the results of the trials.
130	Simons	Reads quote from Dr. Jim Sabian citing the need for "reasonable resource restraints."
140	Rep. Hill	Asks if individuals choosing to participate in the trials have their treatment covered.
150	Simons	Answers yes.
179	Rep. Devlin	Asks if anyone in need of the treatment can participate in the study and thus receive treatment.
184	Simons	Answers yes if they meet the clinical criteria of protocol. Reiterates that if treatment is mandated then participation in the trials will decrease.

203	Powell	States that Blue Cross believes very strongly in the research trials.
221	Rep. Hill	Asks about the costs of the procedure.
223	Simons	Answers from \$70,000 to \$115,000 per treatment, not including follow-up care or outpatient management.
229	Powell	Adds that the medical doctor for Blue Cross told him that with complications the cost can escalate to \$500,000.
234	Jenny	SelectCare Health Plans. Introduces Tom Jefferson. Submits
234	Ulum	written testimony (EXHIBIT E).
242	Dr. Tom Jefferson	Chief Medical Officer of SelectCare Health Plans. Opposes the bill as written and submits written testimony (EXHIBIT F).States that the bill proposes a simple solution to a complex problem, and provides a good example of why government shouldn't mandate health care benefits. Describes various procedures for replacing bone marrow damaged by chemotherapy. States that the procedure is scientifically unproven.
294	Jefferson	Continues testimony, listing independent research groups stating that the procedure is scientifically unproven.
344	Jefferson	Continues testimony.
349	Vice-Chair Wooten	Asks the witness to summarize his major points.
351	Jefferson	Briefly review bullet points of written testimony.
TAPE 27, B		
000	Rep. Taylor	Asks if SelectCare covers the procedure when appropriate.
002	Jefferson	Answers yes.
004	Rep. Hill	Asks if science has found a cure for the common cold.
005	Jefferson	Answers no.
007	Rep. Hill	Asks if a doctor diagnoses a patient as having a cold if insurance will pay for its treatment.
008	Jefferson	Answers yes.
010	Marcia Latta	Women's Rights Coalition. Supports the bill and submits written testimony (EXHIBIT G).
010	Vice-Chair Wooten	Closes the public hearing on HB 3217 and opens a public hearing on HB 2882.
HB 2882 - PUBLIC HEARING		
012	Vice-Chair Wooten	State Representative, House District #41. Submits written testimony (EXHIBIT H). States that nearly 2,000 women will be hospitalized this year in Oregon for mastectomies. Mentions psychological concerns. Mentions problems with the quick release of patients after the surgery. Notes that Medicaid requested the

		hospitals not limit the amount of days women may remain in the hospital after surgery.
062	Lee Smith	President, Oregon Breast Cancer Coalition gives testimony in support of HB 2882 (EXHIBIT I). Provides statistical information about breast cancer in Oregon. Describes medical concerns related to early release from the hospital.
093	Yulonda Evans	Lane County resident gives testimony in support of HB 2882 (EXHIBIT J). Relates personal mastectomy experience.
119	Rep. Whelan	Asks if her entire breast and lymph nodes were removed and then she was discharged within 24 hours.
120	Evans	Explains that she was discharged within 20 hours.
121	Rep. Whelan	Asks if her surgeon knew of the time limit imposed by the insurance company.
123	Evans	Indicates that she knew before the surgery that she would be allowed 24 hours in the hospital unless there were drastic complications.
128	Beth Prescott	Representative, Monoclonal Antibody Facility, Institute of Neuroscience, University of Oregon gives testimony in support of HB 2882 (EXHIBIT K). Relates personal mastectomy experience. Explains subsequent illness related to the surgery. Expresses frustration with dealing with her HMO.
173	Rep. Taylor	Asks if she had complications.
174	Prescott	Answers affirmatively.
182	Evans	Summarizes testimony on behalf of Molly Gibson in support of HB 2882 (EXHIBIT L).
191	Rep. Hill	Asks who their insurance companies are.
193	Evans	Select Care and Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Oregon.
211	Kathleen Dunn	Representative, Women's Rights Coalition gives testimony in support of HB 2882 (EXHIBIT M). Explains support of the Women's Rights Coalition of urging insurance companies to allow a minimum stay of 48 hours for mastectomy patients.
234	Vice-Chair Wooten	Closes public hearing on HB 2882. Opens public hearing on HB 3233.
HB 3233 PUBLIC HEARING		
236	Vice-Chair Wooten	State Representative gives testimony in support of HB 3233 (EXHIBIT N). Introduces -2 amendments to the bill. Encourages insurance coverage of annual mammogram screenings for women over 40.
270	Dr. David Fleming	State Epidemiologist, Health Division, Department of Human Resources gives testimony in support of HB 3233 (EXHIBIT O). Explains the benefits of early diagnosis of breast cancer with the aid

		of mammography. Indicates that the National Cancer Institute approves of annual screenings.
308	Rep. Whelan	Verifies that Dr. Fleming is an epidemiologist.
312	Fleming	Answers affirmatively.
313	Rep. Whelan	Asks if there has been an increase in the number of cases of breast cancer.
314	Fleming	Indicates that the number of incidents of breast cancer has remained stable or increased slightly due to early detection.
317	Rep. Devlin	Asks why the bill is not encouraging coverage of women over 50.
324	Fleming	States that the Health Division strongly encourages annual mammograms for women over 50 and that the bill will extend the age limit down to 40.
332	Vice-Chair Wooten	Describes information from the American Cancer Society relating to mammograms and breast cancer detection.
341	Fleming	Agrees with information from the American Cancer Society. States that there is no way to prevent breast cancer, but the medical field can prevent more deaths from breast cancer.
352	Sen. Kate Brown	State Senator, District #7 Explains that legislation related to mammograms that was passed during the 1993 session will sunset during the 1999 session.
368	Vice-Chair Wooten	Requests the Committee Administrator to address the sunset clause with an additional amendment to the bill.
374	Betty Haus	Representative, Women's Rights Coalition and the American Association of University Women. Presents testimony in support of HB 3233 (EXHIBIT P).
TAPE 28, <i>A</i>	<u> </u>	
003	Haus	Encourages the use of mammograms as a tool for early detection of breast cancer. Explains the benefits of early detection of the disease.
023	Vice-Chair Wooten	Closes public hearing on HB 3233. Opens public hearing on HB 2880.
HB 2880 PUBLIC HEARING		
029	Vice-Chair Wooten	State Representative, District 41. Provides testimony in support of HB 2880 (EXHIBIT Q). Submits amendments to the bill. Encourages insurance companies that provide coverage for mastectomies also cover the cost of breast reconstruction and prosthesis.
039	Dr. David Fleming	State Epidemiologist, Oregon Health Division, Department of Human Resources. Provides testimony in support of HB 2880. (EXHIBIT R) Encourages access to breast reconstruction.

060	Rep. Whelan	Verifies that some women will not seek treatment for breast cancer due to the potential disfigurement.
062	Fleming	Answers affirmatively. Indicates that women view disfigurement as a significant reason to not seek testing for possible diagnosis.
076	Lee Smith	President, Breast Cancer Coalition. Provides testimony in support of HB 2880 (EXHIBIT S). Concurs that women do not seek diagnosis due to possible disfigurement. Explains that women who have had reconstruction agree that it helps to but the cancer experience behind them. Encourages insurance companies to provide coverage for reconstructive surgery or prostheses.
110	Smith	On behalf of Dr. Barbara Myrick, provides testimony in support of HB 2880 (EXHIBIT T).
121	Vice-Chair Wooten	Asks how many insurance companies cover reconstructive surgery and prostheses.
124	Smith	Does not know, but there are a few companies that do cover reconstructive surgery and many do not cover prostheses.
129	Vice-Chair Wooten	Indicates that the Oregon Health Plan does not cover reconstructive surgery. Suggests that the major issue of the bill is to include prostheses as an option.
139	Beth Prescott	Eugene resident gives testimony in support of HB 2880. Explains that her reconstructive surgery was psychologically helpful.
168	Kaaryn Keller	Representative, Women's Rights Coalition gives testimony in support of HB 2880 (EXHIBIT U). Explains that breast reconstruction is a matter of fairness and safety.
197	Vice-Chair Wooten	Closes the public hearing on HB 2880 and opens the public hearing on HB 3649.
HB 3649 PUBLIC HEARING		
210	Rep. Kitty Piercy	State Representative, District #39. Gives testimony in support of HB 3649 and proposed amendments (EXHIBIT V). Explains that the amendments replace the original bill to include language that requires maternity coverage for dependent teens.
253	MaryAnn Curry	Representative, Governor's Maternity Task Force gives testimony in support of HB 3649 (EXHIBIT W). Suggests that the bill is good public policy.
301	Rep. Piercy	Explains the cost shift to Oregonians when teens must become independent of their families to gain maternity coverage.
326	Rep. Taylor	Asks if abortions would be covered by insurance companies.
327	Rep. Piercy	No.
338	Sen. Kate Brown	State Senator, District 7. Comments that this bill is in its third legislative session. Indicates that the bill is very narrow and it is time for the bill to pass.

367	Donna Clark	Representative, Oregon Health Division. gives testimony in support of HB 3649. Expresses interest in prevention. Indicates that the teen birth rate is increasing in Oregon.
TAPE 29, A		
003	Clark	Explains the costs of teen births.
025	Vice-Chair Wooten	Clarifies that there were 2,000 teen births in Oregon in 1996 and only 500 were covered by private health insurance.
032	Clark	Replies that it was in 1995.
039	Ed Nieberg	Insurance Division, Department of Consumer and Business Services. Gives testimony in support of HB 3649. Expresses support for part of the -2 amendments.
068	Marcia Latta	Representative, Women's Rights Coalition gives testimony in support of HB 3649 (EXHIBIT X). Expresses support for the -2 amendments.
085	Vice-Chair Wooten	Closes public hearing on HB 3649. Opens public hearing on HB 2885.
HB 2885 PUBLIC HEARING		
087	Vice-Chair Wooten	Explains provisions of the bill. Indicates that insurance benefits will be extended for domestic partners of the same or opposite sex at the request of the employer.
090	Greg Leo	Representative, Right To Pride. Presents testimony in support of HB 2885. Explains the difficulty small employers have in providing benefits to employees with domestic partners. (EXHIBIT Y).
112	Jean Harris	Representative, Basic Rights Oregon gives testimony in support of HB 2885 (EXHIBIT Z). Stresses the importance of the bill.
150	Vice-Chair Wooten	Closes public hearing on HB 2885. Opens public hearing on HB 3648.
HB 3648 PUBLIC HEARING		
153	Sen. Kate Brown	State Senator, District 7. Gives testimony in support of HB 3648. Comments on gender neutral insurance. Compares auto insurance for males and females and relates it to accident rates. Suggests that females subsidize auto insurance for males.
183	Rep. Whelan	Asks if women's life insurance should be higher since they live longer.
188	Sen. Brown	No. Explains that women still pay more and get less for their life insurance when compared to men.
225	Al Thompson	Representative, Standard Insurance. Expresses opposition to HB 3648. Suggests that it poses an unfair pricing mandate.(EXHIBIT A2)
262		Indicates that insurance is not used even-handedly.

	Sen. Brown	
284	John Powell	Representative, State Farm Insurance. Expresses opposition to HB 3648. Indicates that fine tuning actuarial data is the only way insurance can be fair.
312	Vice-Chair Wooten	Closes public hearing on HB 3648.
323	Peggy Anet	Representative, Health Insurance Association of America gives testimony in support of House Bills 3217, 2877, 2880, 2882, 2885, 3233 and 3946 . (EXHIBIT B2)
385	Vice-Chair Wooten	Adjourns meeting at 9:47 p.m.

Transcribed By, Reviewed By,

Marjorie Taylor, Keith Putman,

Administrative Support Administrator

EXHIBIT SUMMARY

- A HB 3649, Written testimony, Rep. Kitty Piercy, 1 p.
- B HB 3217, Written testimony, Kevin Earls, 3 pp.
- C HB 3217, Written testimony, Jacquelyn Romm, 1 p.
- D HB 3217, Written materials, Dan Harris, 14 pp.
- E HB 2877, Written testimony, Jenny Ulum, 1 p.
- F HB 3217, Written testimony, Tom Jefferson, 6 pp.
- G HB 3217, Written testimony, Marcia Latta, 1 p.
- H HB 2882, Written testimony, Rep. Cynthia Wooten, 2 pp.
- I HB 2882, Written testimony, Lee Smith, 1 p.
- J HB 2882, Written testimony, Yulonda Evans, 1 p.
- K HB 2882, Written testimony, Beth Prescott, 1 p.
- L HB 2882, Written testimony, Yulonda Evans, 2 pp.
- M HB 2882, Written testimony, Kathleen Dunn, 1 p.
- N HB 3233, Written testimony, Rep. Cynthia Wooten, 2 pp.
- O HB 3233, Written testimony, Dr. David Fleming, 2 pp.

- P HB 3233, Written testimony, Betty Haus, 1 p.
- Q HB 2880, Written testimony, Rep. Cynthia Wooten, 2 pp.
- R HB 2880, Written testimony, Dr. David Fleming, 1 p.
- S HB 2880, Written testimony, Lee Smith, 1 p.
- T HB 2880, Written testimony, Lee Smith, 2 pp.
- U HB 2880, Written testimony, Kaaryn Keller, 1 p.
- V HB 3649, -2 amendments, Rep. Kitty Piercy, 4 pp.
- W HB 3649, Written testimony, MaryAnn Curry, 3 pp.
- X HB 3649, Written testimony, Marcia Latta, 1 p.
- Y HB 3649, Written testimony, Barry Pack, 7 pp.
- Z HB 2885, Written testimony, Jean Harris, 2 pp.
- A2 HB 3648, Written testimony, Al Thompson, 1 p.
- B2 HB 3217, Written testimony, Peggy Anet, 4 pp.
- C2 HB 3217, Written testimony, John Powell, 2 pp.
- D2 HB 3217, Written testimony, Rep. Rasmussen, 6 pp.